ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 02 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LANCE LEON MILES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000308

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred reversibly by instructing the jury that the State did not need to prove that Appellant knew the drugs in the package he possessed were oxycodone; rather, for Appellant to be guilty of trafficking, the State only needed to prove that Appellant knew the package contained any illegal drugs.

- II. The trial erred reversibly by refusing to grant a directed verdict acquitting Appellant of trafficking in illegal drugs where the State presented no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant knew that the package he possessed contained oxycodone as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(e)(3)(a).

- III. Appellant's right against self-incrimination as guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution was violated by the introduction of his statements to police where the first statement was the product of an interrogation by officers who failed to advise Appellant of his *Miranda*¹ rights and his subsequent statements were tainted by the initial violation and the product of an involuntary waiver.
 - A. The court erred in admitting statements made by Appellant prior to officers advising Appellant of his *Miranda* rights and obtaining a valid waiver of those rights where Appellant clearly was in custody based upon the totality of the circumstances.

 - B. The trial court erred in admitting statements made by Appellant subsequent to the officer advising him of his *Miranda* rights and obtaining an involuntary waiver of those rights because the statement was tainted by the initial violation where the same officer questioned Appellant in the same location with no temporal break between the post-advisement interrogation and the prior, unwarned interrogation.

¹ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 10, 2014, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Lance L. Miles for one count of trafficking in illegal drugs. R. 326-327.

On February 11-12, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo and a jury. Robert "Theo" Williams represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors Micah Caskey and Casey Rankin represented the State.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 314, ll. 2-13. The trial court sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years imprisonment. R. 321, ll. 1-8.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of September 13, 2013, Agent Doug Edmonson of the Lexington County Sheriff's Department was at a FedEx warehouse near the Columbia Metropolitan Airport looking at arriving packages in an effort to determine if they contained drugs. R. 65, ll. 6 - 67, ll. 13. Edmonson would allege that one particular package had "indicators of maybe containing some type of illegal narcotic." R. 8, ll. 12-19.

According to Edmonson the package was suspicious because: (1) it was "excessively" taped, (2) it was being sent overnight from California, (3) the sender paid in cash; and (4) the sender waived the signature requirement for the recipient. R. 44, ll. 6-23. Edmonson noted the recipient, the address and released the package for delivery. *Id.* He then ran the name of the recipient through a law enforcement database. The name did not match the delivery address. R. 50, ll. 18 - p 51, ll. 23.

Based on this information, Edmonson decided to conduct surveillance of the delivery address. Edmonson enlisted the help of Lexington City Police Officer Marc Miramontes and Lexington County Deputy Travis Bass. Miramontes, sitting in an undercover vehicle, observed the package being delivered and witnessed a never-identified black female, who was talking on a cell phone, step out of the apartment where the package was delivered. R. 31, ll. 3 - 32, ll. 14.

The unknown female looked at the package briefly, then went back inside the apartment. Shortly thereafter, Miramontes saw Appellant walk up to the apartment and pick-up the package. *Id.* Appellant then began to walk towards the back of the apartment complex. Edmonson and Bass drove into the complex's parking lot to intercept Appellant. R. 19, ll. 1 - 21, ll. 19.

Both officers exited their vehicles with guns drawn and ordered Appellant "to the ground." R. 37, ll. 1 - 38, ll. 13. When Appellant failed to immediately do so, the officers forced him to the

ground and handcuffed him. Edmonson interrogated Appellant.² *Id.* Without administering *Miranda* warnings, Edmonson demanded Appellant explain what he was doing with the package and what he thought was in it. R. 10, ll. 4-25.

Appellant initially denied knowing what was in the package. *Id.* Edmonson posited that he believed the package contained narcotics. *Id.* Still handcuffed, Appellant conceded that the package might contain drugs. *Id.* At trial Edmonson would recall, “[a]fter he told me that it might have drugs in it, then I *Mirandized*.” *Id.* at ll. 22-25 (*emphasis added*). Edmonson then told Appellant “I said ‘we need to talk about this . . . I want to talk about this. I want you to tell me everything you know about this.’” R. 12, ll. 19-24. Edmonson alleged that Appellant still wanted to talk about the package.

Having extracted a confession from the recently tackled and handcuffed Appellant without administering *Miranda* warnings, Edmonson then reiterated his initial questions asking Appellant again what did he believe was in the package. R. 11, ll. 10 - 12, ll. 24. Appellant repeated that he believed the package probably contained drugs. *Id.* Crucially, Appellant did not know what kind of drugs were in the package. *Id.* There was no evidence that Edmonson explained to Appellant that his *pre-Miranda* statements were very likely inadmissible.

According to Edmonson, Appellant then gave permission for police to open the package. However, because he “has no problem going the extra mile,” Edmonson requested that a K-9 unit

² During trial, the assistant solicitor joked with Edmonson that he must be “the largest physicist in the world,” referencing Edmonson’s undergraduate degree. R. 81, ll. 10-11. Edmonson agreed, adding that he was “one of the strongest ones in the world. That’s a fact.” *Id.* at ll. 12-13.

Defense counsel noted on cross-examination that, at the time of his arrest, Appellant would have seen two cars converging on him, “one with a rather large strong black man” coming out and is immediately forced to the ground and handcuffed. R. 122, ll. 14-22. Edmonson agreed with the characterization. *Id.*

inspect the package. R. 21, ll. 21 - 22, ll. 21. Once deployed the dog gave a “positive alert” indicating that there may be narcotics in the package. *Id.*

Then, rather than opening the package, Edmonson called Deputy Dennis Tracy who completed a pre-formatted search warrant and presented it to a magistrate. R. 125, ll. 1- 126, ll. 12. The magistrate signed the search warrant and Edmonson finally opened the package. Inside the package were a tee-shirt, a teddy bear, and a wax candle. R. 131, ll. 8 -24; R. 136, ll. 16-24. Police broke open the wax candle and discovered three hundred tablets of oxycodone, with total drug weight amounting to nine grams of oxycodone. R. 251, ll. 8 - 252, ll. 12.

Approximately, thirty to forty-five minutes after he was seized and interrogated without being given *Miranda* warnings, law enforcement had Appellant provide written answers to a series of questions regarding the package. R. 176, ll. 8-18; R. 195, ll. 6-15. Edmonson would recall ordering Appellant, for a third time, to “tell me everything that you know about this and write it down for me.” R. 12, ll. 19-24. Appellant was then belatedly *Mirandized* for a second time. *Id.* Appellant’s written statement indicated that he believed there were drugs in the package, but did not know what kind of drugs they were. R. 13, ll. 3 - 15, ll. 12.

At law enforcement’s prompting, Appellant admitted that he had retrieved packages on three different occasions. R. 25, ll. 8-14. Further, Appellant stated that he did not know the legal name of the drug dealer that directed him to pick up the package. R. 107, ll. 2-13. In addition, police never asked him where he delivered packages on prior occasions and did not ask him where he was to deliver the package at issue.

Law enforcement never identified the black female located in the apartment and never attempted to contact California law enforcement to determine where the package had been sent from. R. 119, ll. 5 - 121, ll. 4. Police ended their investigation once Appellant was arrested. *Id.*

***Jackson v. Denno*³ Hearing**

Appellant moved pre-trial to suppress the oral and written statements he made to police at the time of his arrest. The State conceded that Appellant's pre-*Miranda* oral statements made during custodial interrogation were inadmissible. R. 7, ll. 1-10. However, the State argued that the written statement, which was substantially similar to Appellant's pre-*Miranda* statements, was freely and voluntarily given. R. 41, ll. 4-19.

Edmonson, Miramontes, and Bass all testified. The officers agreed that Appellant gave his written statement approximately thirty to forty-five minutes after he was tackled and handcuffed by law enforcement. R. 176, ll. 8-18; R. 195, ll. 6-9. Edmonson was the only officer able to provide a complete timeline of Appellant's seizure and interrogation.

He conceded that he first interrogated Appellant without giving *Miranda* warnings. R. 19, ll. 16 - 21, ll. 19. Edmonson testified that he only *Mirandized* Appellant after Appellant stated, in response to Edmonson's questioning, that he believed that the package likely contained drugs. Edmonson then had Appellant repeat his confession post-*Miranda*. *Id.* Then for a second time Edmonson belatedly re-*Mirandized* Appellant prior to having him provide written responses to a series of questions - which were virtually identical to his pre-*Miranda* questions. R. 12, ll. 19 - 15, ll. 12.

The trial court ruled that the written statement was "entered into freely and voluntarily without coercion" and that Appellant had been adequately advised of his rights. R. 42, ll. 16-23. However, the court also ruled that Appellant's statements regarding other occasions when he had previously picked-up packages must be redacted from the statement before it was submitted to the jury. *Id.*

³ *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

Trial

Edmonson, Miramontes, and Bass all testified for the State. Deputy Ted Xanthakis also testified to the positive alert by the drug dog.⁴ R. 8, ll. 12 - 9, ll. 7.

Trial Testimony of Doug Edmonson

Edmonson was the State's first and most important witness. Edmonson testified as to the factors that made the package suspicious and how he assembled several other police officers to begin surveillance of the delivery address. R. 88, ll. 7-21. Edmonson recalled that after he was notified that Appellant had taken the package, he and Bass drove up to Appellant, exited their cars with guns drawn, and "secured" him by forcing him to the ground and handcuffing him. R. 94, ll. 3-19.

Edmonson claimed that he believed Appellant was going to run and that Appellant had attempted to discard the package once he saw police. R. 95, ll. 3-13. Edmonson testified that Appellant confessed that he knew "narcotics" were in the package and that he gave permission for Edmonson to open it. R. 95, ll. 1-19. Edmonson then explained the "extra-mile" that he went to have a dog inspect the package and to call in a search warrant. *Id.*

Over the renewed objection of defense counsel, the State introduced Appellant's written statement. R. 102, ll. 4 - 106, ll. 16. When reviewing the statement with Edmonson, the State stressed that Appellant admitted he knew the package contained drugs. R. 106, ll. 24 - 110, ll. 11. However, Appellant's statement never indicated that Appellant knew the drugs were oxycodone. *Id.* In fact, Edmonson conceded on cross-examination that even he believed the package contained

⁴ Curiously, Xanthakis testified that the dog was never tested on its ability to identify oxycodone. R. 228, ll. 3-8.

marijuana. R. 126, ll. 13 - 127, ll. 4. During cross-examination, Edmonson testified that Appellant initially denied knowing what was in the package. R. 123, ll. 1-12.

Additional *Voir Dire* Testimony on Appellant's Pre-Miranda Statements

During a break in questioning, the State argued that the defense had opened the door to all of Appellant's pre-Miranda statements by asking Edmonson if Appellant had initially denied knowing the contents of the package. R. 146, ll. 3-21. The State now claimed that Appellant had apparently made additional, lengthy pre-Miranda statements going beyond simply denying knowledge of the package's contents and then conceding that the package likely contained drugs. *Id.*

Specifically, the State sought to introduce previously undisclosed pre-Miranda statements by Appellant that he was acting as a "mule" to support his family, that he handled packages before, that he had just been released from prison, and that he could not find a job. R. 149, ll. 20 - 150, ll. 6. On *voir dire*, Edmonson reiterated that Appellant did not know what types of drugs were in the package. R. 156, ll. 7-12.

The State claimed that they had not disclosed these statements because they had conceded that the all pre-Miranda statement were inadmissible. R. 158, ll. 2-8. However, now that the defense had opened the door on cross-examination, the statements provided proof of trafficking by conspiracy. R. 154, ll. 15 - 155, ll. 25. The trial court voiced concerns that the State could not prove that the other instances were sufficiently close in time to be admissible under the common scheme or plan exception. R. 160, ll. 13 - 161, ll. 7.

Conveniently, Edmonson claimed - for the first time - that Appellant had told him pre-Miranda that he had picked-up other packages "within that year." R. 161, ll. 18-25. Edmonson helpfully added, also for the first time, that when he interrogates people he always tries to get a timeline "so it won't be so vague." *Id.* Edmonson further alleged, again for the first time, that

Appellant confessed pre-*Miranda* to having done pick-ups between three and seven times in the past year, rather than the three times recorded in the written statement. R. 162, ll. 2-13.

A surprised defense counsel noted ruefully “that’s the first time we have heard this discussion It’s getting better.” R. 162, ll. 14-17. Ultimately, the trial court ruled that the prejudicial impact of Appellant’s alleged admission that he had previously picked-up packages outweighed its probative value. R. 163, ll. 4-13. The court did allow Edmonson to testify that Appellant told him he knew he was being paid to pick-up a package containing drugs. *Id.*

Directed Verdict

At the close of the State’s case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict arguing that the State presented no evidence that Appellant knew that the drugs in the package were oxycodone. R. 264, ll. 22-24. The State countered that Appellant’s written statement, “clearly acknowledges that he knew the drugs were in there.” R. 265, ll. 3-6. Without taking further argument, the court denied the motion. *Id.* at ll. 7.

The defense rested without presenting any testimony and defense counsel renewed the directed verdict motion. R. 269, ll. 4-17. Defense counsel reiterated that the State had failed to present any evidence that Appellant knew that the package contained oxycodone and that all the testimony presented during the trial indicated that Appellant and the police believed the package contained marijuana. *Id.* The court again denied the motion. *Id.* at ll. 18-24.

Jury Instructions

Defense counsel argued that Appellant was entitled to an instruction that “before you commit a crime, you must have criminal intent to commit the crime, meaning you must have knowledge.” R. 273, ll. 23 - 295, ll. 3. The court disagreed, believing that the trafficking statute did not require an accused “to intend to possession oxycodone.” R. 274, ll. 4-15. Instead, the court

determined that trafficking only required Appellant to know that there are illegal drugs in the package. *Id.* at ll. 23-24.

Unsurprisingly, the State agreed with the court's reasoning. The assistant solicitor averred - without citing to any supporting legal authority - that, "the law is clear, as long as [Appellant] knows they are illegal drugs, we have satisfied that element." R. 276, ll. 12-17.

Jury Question

During its deliberation the jury submitted a two-part question: "[d]oes the State have to prove that the defendant knowingly brought into the State four grams or more of oxycodone or just any amount of illegal drugs in order to consider this trafficking?" R. 317, ll. 1-6. In response the court suggested:

[T]he State does not have to prove that the defendant knowingly brought into the state this particular drug, just that the statute requires knowing that it was illegal drugs. . . . [Appellant] [d]oes not have to know the particular drug that is in question. Simply that he knew they were illegal drugs. . . . My proposed response would be that the State does not have to prove that the Defendant knew the drugs were oxycodone, just that the package contained illegal drugs.

R. 317, ll. 7 - 318, ll. 4.

Defense counsel argued that the legislature created the trafficking statute, with its enhanced penalties, to punish individuals who knowingly possess a large amount of a certain drug; meaning that the defendant must know what drug they are possessing. R. 321, ll. 9-14. The court voiced concern that requiring the State to prove that a defendant knowingly trafficked in a certain drug would render the law unenforceable except in circumstances where the defendant confessed to knowing the type of drug he was trafficking. R. 322, ll. 11-24.

Defense counsel, looking to the trafficking statute, argued that the statute clearly required that the defendant "knowingly sells, et. cetera, then it says four grams or more of morphine." R. 323

5-15. Defense counsel noted that interpreting the statute in order to fit the facts of the case was improper and that straightforward reading of the trafficking statute evidenced that the legislature intended to require the State to prove that a defendant accused of trafficking, knowingly committed any of the enumerated acts with a specific drugs. R. 320, ll. 5-11; R. 323, ll. 5-15; S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(e)(1)-(8).

The Court ultimately decided that because § 44-53-370(e)(3), the statute under which Appellant was indicted, was titled “Trafficking in Illegal Drugs” that the State need only prove that the Appellant knew that the package contained illegal drugs, not that it contained oxycodone. R. 323, ll. 16-22; R. 326, ll. 16 - 327, ll. 16. Focusing on the facts of Appellant’s case, the court concluded that, “[y]ou also have to assume that the legislature didn’t draft statutes that are meaningless.” R. 324, ll. 11-13.

In summary the court noted that, “my interpretation is that the burden of proof on the State, it does not have to prove that a person knew that those particular drugs were oxycodone. . . Simply that they were illegal drugs.” R. 326, ll. 21-25. The Court then instructed the jury: “the law in South Carolina is the State does not have to prove that the Defendant knew that the drugs in the package were oxycodone, just that he knew that the package contained illegal drugs.” R. 329, ll. 21-25.

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court erred reversibly by instructing the jury that the State did not need to prove that Appellant knew the drugs in the package he possessed were oxycodone; rather, for Appellant to be guilty of trafficking, the State only needed to prove that Appellant knew the package contained any illegal drugs.

As seen during deliberations, the jury inquired if the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that “the defendant knowingly brought into the State four grams or more of oxycodone or just any amount of illegal drugs in order to consider this trafficking?” R. 317, ll. 1-6. There was no evidence put forward at trial that Appellant knew the box contained oxycodone. Agent Edmonson recalled that Appellant admitted to him that he believed the package contained “narcotics.” R. 95, ll. 1-19. Crucially, Edmonson also recalled that Appellant told him he did not know what kind of drugs were in the package. R. 11, ll. 10-18; R. 21, ll. 13-15; R. 156, ll. 11-15. Edmonson personally believed that the package contained marijuana. R. 179, ll. 1-8.

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