**ORIGINAL**  
**RECEIVED**

JUN 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000308

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LANCE LEON MILES,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street  
Lexington, South Carolina 29072  
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

In Appellant’s case, Appellant contends he was entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of trafficking in illegal drugs because the State’s evidence “merely raised the suspicion of Appellant’s guilt, as the State failed to present any substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant knew the package he was taking possession of contained oxycodone.”(App. Br 24). Contrary to Appellant’s contentions, looking at the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State as required, the trial court properly denied Appellant’s directed verdict motion because the State presented

substantial evidence and testimony establishing each element of the trafficking in illegal drugs, including Appellant's knowledge of illegal drugs.

Looking to the evidence presented during trial, the State presented direct and circumstantial evidence establishing that Appellant had knowledge of the illegal drugs, which was all that was required to satisfy the knowledge element of the offense. See Attardo, 263 S.C. at 549, 211 S.E.2d at 869 ("This language evinces a legislative desire to fasten a general, but not a specific, criminal intent as an element of the offense."). Specifically, Appellant acknowledged multiple times that he knew the package contained illegal drugs. When initially approached by law enforcement, Appellant indicated the package likely contained illegal drugs. (R. 95, 170). Then, Edmonson read Appellant his rights pursuant to Miranda and Appellant orally waived his rights and again acknowledged the package likely contained narcotics. (R. 9-11, 94-95). After Arcos, the trained canine, positively identified drugs in the package and Edmonson opened the package, Appellant yet again provided an oral statement that he knew the package contained illegal drugs and then gave a written statement that he was picking up the package for one-hundred dollars, was to deliver it to its owner, and knew it contained illegal drugs. (R. 103, 106-07, 343-46, State's Ex. No. 10-11). Furthermore, Appellant acted in an inculpatory manner when confronted by officers, throwing the package near a vehicle and looking for an escape route. Thus, the evidence and testimony presented during trial established Appellant had knowledge of the package's contents. Critically, viewing that evidence and testimony in a light most favorable to the State as required, the jury could have rationally and logically concluded Appellant knew the package contained the requisite amount of illegal drugs when possessing it, satisfying the requisite elements

necessary to convict him of trafficking in illegal drugs pursuant to Section 44-53-370(e)(3).

In arguing the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict, Appellant contends the State's evidence merely raised the suspicion of Appellant's guilt, as the State failed to present any substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant knew the package specifically contained Oxycodone.<sup>3</sup> (App. Br. 24-25) However, Appellant's argument is flawed for several reasons. Initially, Appellant's assertions that the State needed to establish he knew the identity of the particular illegal substance he was possessing to satisfy Section 44-53-370(e)(3) is incorrect, as trafficking in illegal drugs, like all trafficking offenses in South Carolina, is a general intent crime requiring knowledge that the substance is illegal. See Attardo, 263 S.C. at 549, 211 S.E.2d at 869 ("This language evinces a legislative desire to fasten a general, but not a specific, criminal intent as an element of the offense."). Additionally, as discussed above, Appellant's argument ignores the multitude of cases establishing that possession gives rise to an inference of the possessor's knowledge of the character of the substance. See e.g., Mollison, 319 S.C. at 45, 459 S.E.2d at 91 (holding possession gives rise to an

---

<sup>3</sup>In support of this position, Appellant argues the State must establish Appellant knew the specific illegal drug—Oxycodone—in the package and that "if there is a reasonable doubt as to whether [he] was aware of the nature of the substance possessed . . . he would not be guilty of the offense." Appellant appears to be using the incorrect standard for when a trial court is ruling on a directed verdict motion. As our Supreme Court stated in Bennett, when ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is "any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced." Bennett, 415 S.C. at 236-37, 781 S.E.2d at 354. This is a different analysis that when a jury is determining if there is any reasonable doubt as to whether Appellant is guilty. See Id. ("[T]he lens through which a court considers circumstantial evidence when ruling on a directed verdict motion is distinct from the analysis performed by the jury. . . . Within the jury's inquiry, it is necessary that every circumstance relied upon by the state be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and that all of the circumstances so proven be consistent with each other and, taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis. . . . However, when ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is "any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.") (internal citations omitted).

inference that the possessor knows the character of the substance); Attardo, 263 S.C. 546. 211 S.E.2d 868 (same). Furthermore, Appellant's deliberate and willful ignorance of the specific substance he was possessing, despite knowing it was illegal, amounts to guilty knowledge. See Freeland, 106 S.C. 220, 91 S.E. 3 (holding intentional ignorance is not an excuse to relieve liability from criminal acts).

Because the testimony and evidence the State presented during trial established each element of the offense of trafficking in illegal drugs, the trial judge was required to deny Appellant's directed verdict motion and submit the charge to the jury. See Attardo, 263 S.C. at 550, 211 S.E.2d at 869 (holding Attardo's actual possession of narcotics supported an inference of his knowledge in regards to the character of the substance and made the knowledge element a question for the jury to resolve). Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion, and his ruling was supported by the evidence. See Gaster, 349 S.C. at 555, 564 S.E.2d at 92 ("On an appeal from the trial court's denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court may only reverse the trial court if there is no evidence to support the trial court's ruling."). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

**III. The trial court properly admitted Appellant's statements to law enforcement into evidence.**

When Edmonson and Bass approached Appellant in the parking lot of the Villas Court apartment complex, Appellant threw the package near a vehicle and began looking around as if he was trying to find an escape route. (R. 92-94, 122, 187-88). Bass drew his weapon and ordered Appellant to the ground. (R. 121, 187-88). When Appellant failed to comply, Bass assisted Appellant to the ground and placed him in handcuffs. (R. 94, 121, 188). Edmonson identified himself as law enforcement and asked Appellant what was in the package. (R. 94-95). Appellant indicated the package likely contained illegal drugs. (R. 95, 170). Edmonson then read Appellant his rights pursuant to Miranda and Appellant orally waived his rights. (R. 9-10, 94-95). Appellant acknowledged the package likely contained narcotics and gave consent to open the package. (R. 11, 95). Edmonson elected to call a canine unit trained to identify narcotics before opening the package. (R. 95). After the canine indicated the package contained a controlled substance, Edmonson called his partner, who obtained a search warrant to open the package. (R. 46-47, 54-61, 96-97, 125-26, 146-47, 223-24).

Edmonson then opened the package and discovered three-hundred tablets of Oxycodone hidden inside a wax candle. (R. 99-101, 133-35, 224-25). After discovering the pills, Edmonson asked Appellant what was going on and Appellant agreed to give a statement. (R. 100-01). Edmonson advised Appellant of his Miranda rights for second time and Appellant acknowledged in writing he understood those rights and wished to waive them. (R. 101-02, 106-08). Appellant gave a written statement that he was picking up the package for one-hundred dollars, was to deliver it to its owner, and knew it

contained illegal drugs. (R. 106-07). Following his statement, Edmonson transferred Appellant to the Lexington County Detention Center. (R. 110).

During the Jackson v. Denno hearing, the State presented testimony from Edmonson, Miramontes, and Bass. Edmonson testified he and Bass ordered Appellant to stop and placed him in handcuffs before they asked Appellant what he was doing. (R. 9-10, 20-21). Edmonson testified Appellant initially denied being in possession of the package or knowing what was inside the package, but eventually indicated the package likely contained narcotics. (R. 10-11, 19-21). Edmonson then read Appellant his rights pursuant to Miranda. (R. 10-11). After Edmonson informed Appellant of his rights, Appellant indicated again the package likely contained illegal drugs—likely narcotics—and agreed to waive his rights and speak with law enforcement. (R. 10-12). Appellant agreed to give a written statement and Edmonson advised him of his rights pursuant to Miranda for a second time. (R. 12-13, 345-46, Court's Ex. No. 1). Appellant signed a written waiver of his rights and provided a written statement that he knew drugs were in the package and he was picking it up for money. (R. 12-15, 345-46, Court's Ex. No. 1). Miramontes testified he watched Appellant pick up the package from the doorstep, but was not present when Appellant gave any statements. (R. 28-33). Bass testified similarly to Edmonson to the events surrounding Appellant's statements, but recalled Appellant receiving Miranda warnings before giving his initial oral statement that the package likely contained drugs. (R. 34-39).

Appellant moved to suppress his oral and written statements and argued he was under duress when he made the statements. (R. 40). Appellant also argued there was conflicting testimony as to whether Edmonson questioned Appellant prior to giving any Miranda warnings. (R. 40). The State conceded Appellant's statements made pre-

Miranda warnings were inadmissible and it would not seek to introduce those in its case in chief. (R. 41). The trial court ruled Appellant's oral and written statements made following the advisement of Miranda warnings were given knowingly, freely, and voluntarily, and therefore, were admissible. (R. 42). However, the trial court determined the portions of Appellant's statements pertaining to his prior involvement in retrieving packages for money must be redacted. (R. 41-43).

During Edmonson's trial testimony, the State presented Appellant's oral and written statements establishing Appellant knew the package contained illegal drugs. (R. 95-110). During cross-examination, Appellant's counsel questioned Edmonson if Appellant initially denied knowing what was in the package. (R. 23). Following cross-examination, the State argued Appellant had opened the door to allow it to question Appellant on his pre-Miranda statements to law enforcement by questioning Edmonson if Appellant initially denied knowing the package's contents. (R. 146-49). The trial court allowed the State to proffer its intended line of questioning, which was intended to elicit testimony regarding Appellant's recent release from prison, his inability to find employment, and his previous involvement picking up packages he knew contained illegal drugs. (R. 148-56). After argument from both parties, the trial court ruled the preferred testimony was more prejudicial than probative, but did allow the State to elicit testimony from Edmonson that Appellant knew the package contained illegal drugs and was picking it up for payment. (R. 152-63, 169-70).

On appeal, Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting his statements to law enforcement prior to and after he was administered Miranda warnings. Appellant argues his pre-Miranda statements were unconstitutionally taken while he was in custody and therefore are inadmissible. However, Appellant fails to make any argument

challenging the trial court's ruling that defense counsel opened the door to these statements through his cross-examination of Edmonson, and therefore, has waived this issue on appeal. Additionally, Appellant avers his post-Miranda statements were inadmissible because they were tainted by the initial violation and the product of an involuntary waiver. Appellant argues both statements therefore should have been suppressed and the trial court's refusal to do so is reversible error. To the contrary, Appellant's post-Miranda statements were made following a knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waiver and Appellant's pre-Miranda statements were admissible after Appellant opened the door. Accordingly, the trial court properly admitted the statements into evidence during trial and his ruling was fully supported by the evidence and testimony presented during trial. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

- A. The trial court's ruling that Appellant's pre-Miranda statements were admissible once the door was opened is not challenged on appeal and, therefore, is now the law of the case and not preserved for review. Regardless, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting into evidence Appellant's initial statements to law enforcement regarding his knowledge that the package contained illegal drugs because defense counsel opened to door to such testimony.**

Following the Jackson v. Denno hearing, the State conceded Appellant's pre-Miranda statements were inadmissible and that it would not seek to introduce them during its case in chief. However, following Edmonson's cross-examination, the State argued defense counsel had opened the door by questioning Edmonson as to whether Appellant had denied knowing the package's contents initially. After allowing the State to proffer its intended line of questioning, the trial court allowed the State to elicit testimony from Edmonson that Appellant knew the package contained illegal drugs and was picking it up for payment, ruling defense counsel had opened the door.

- i. **The trial court's ruling that Appellant's pre-Miranda statements were admissible once the door was opened is not challenged on appeal and therefore, is now the law of the case and not preserved for this Court's review.**

On appeal, Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting his statements to law enforcement prior to receiving his Miranda warnings because he was "clearly in custody based upon the totality of the circumstances." (App. Br. 28). However, he fails to make any argument as to the trial court's ruling that the door had been opened. Because he has failed to present any argument as to why the trial court erred in ruling the door was opened, but instead, presents argument on a different alleged error, the trial court's ruling is the law of the case and this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Fripp, 396 S.C. 434, 441-42, 721 S.E.2d 465, 468-69 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding Fripp's argument not preserved for appellate review and the trial court's ruling was the law of the case where Fripp did not dispute the correctness of the trial court's ruling that he opened the door to Officer Heany's hearsay testimony, but challenged it on other grounds); Burton v. Cnty. of Abbeville, 312 S.C. 359, 363, 440 S.E.2d 396, 398 (Ct. App. 1994) (stating the appellant's failure to challenge the trial court's ruling in the appellate brief renders the unchallenged ruling the law of the case). See also State v. McCray, 332 S.C. 536, 542, 506 S.E.2d 301, 303 (1998) (finding where an appellate argument differs from the argument made at trial, the argument is unpreserved for appeal). Because Appellant did not dispute the correctness of the trial court's ruling that he opened the door to his initial statements to law enforcement before he received Miranda warnings, this ruling is the law of the case and not preserved for this Court's review.

- ii. **Regardless, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Appellant's initial statements to law enforcement regarding his knowledge that the package contained illegal drugs into evidence after defense counsel opened to door to such testimony.**

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